STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

APR 29 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Marlboro County

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

KENWOOD BRIGHT,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001846  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not requesting a jury charge on voluntary manslaughter when Co-defendant Victoria Knight testified that Petitioner Bright and the victim were arguing just moments before the shooting?

## STATEMENT

In September 2008, the Marlboro County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Kenwood Bright for murder. On March 8-11, 2010, Bright proceeded to trial before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., and a jury. Bright was represented by Miesha Brown, Emily Crayton, and J. Richard Jones. The state was represented by Elizabeth R. Munnerlyn. App. 1. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as indicted. Judge Seals sentenced Bright to life without the possibility of parole. App. 516, ll. 1 – 6. Bright's attorney filed a notice of appeal which was perfected by the Office of Appellate Defense with the filing of a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal on May 9, 2012. State v. Bright, 2012-UP-288 (Ct. App. filed May 9, 2012).

On August 28, 2012, Petitioner Bright filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The state filed a return on January 17, 2013. Bright filed an Amendment to his PCR application on May 10, 2013. An evidentiary hearing was held on January 14, 2014 before the Honorable R Ferrell Cothran. Bright was represented by James M. Biddle, and the state was represented by Joshua L. Thomas. App. 537. On August 14, 2014, Judge Cothran filed an order dismissing Bright's PCR application and dismissing it with prejudice. App. 599 – App. 611. Bright's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not requesting a jury charge on voluntary manslaughter when Co-defendant Victoria Knight testified that Petitioner Bright and the victim were arguing just moments before the shooting.

Kenwood Bright was charged with shooting Chris Dease on July 22, 2008 while Chris was standing in the street in front of his aunt's house in Bennettsville. Bright's girlfriend, Victoria Knight, was with him. Chris died shortly after the shooting. The state's story was that Bright had been shot a few months earlier by Chris Dease's uncle. The bullet was still lodged in Bright's spine and he wanted revenge. App. 53, ll. 16 – App. 58, ll. 10.

After the shooting, Bright fled to High Point, North Carolina where his girlfriend lived. She was apprehended in High Point, and Bright was later arrested in Virginia and charged with murder. App. 58, ll. 11 – 25.

Victoria Knight testified at trial that she and Bright had been dating a few months at the time of this incident. Bright had told her that he had been shot and the bullet was still in him. It still caused him trouble. App. 229, ll. 12 – App. 234, ll. 25.

She and Bright were driving around Bennettsville on the evening of July 22, 2008 after attending a family get together at Victoria's father's house. App. 235, ll. 13 – App. 238, ll. 25; App. 240, ll. 16 – App. 241, ll. 2. When they arrived in Bennettsville, they went down West Main Street and saw a man standing outside near a trailer. Another man with a dog was on the passenger side of the car. Bright stopped the car in the middle of the road. Bright talked with the guy on his side of the car, the driver's side. It was a friendly conversation. App. 241, ll. 3 – App. 249, ll. 1. The man on the passenger side with the dog then leaned over and looked through the passenger window and saw that it was Bright. Then that man said to Bright:

You got balls to be on this street.

App. 249, ll. 1 – 19.

According to Victoria, that was when the man and Bright started arguing back and forth about something that had happened to Bright before. That was when Bright reached behind his back, pulled a gun and shot. They took off. When she looked back, she saw the man with the dog lying on the ground. App. 250, ll. 1 – 254, ll. 25.

Jacobie Kenta Samuels was the man standing in front of the trailer when Bright stopped his car. He had known Bright ten years or more. He and Bright had a friendly relationship. App. 74, ll. 5 – App. 75, ll. 11. On July 22, 2008, he was at his aunt's trailer with his cousin, Chris Dease. Chris had his pit bull with him. App. 75, ll. 12 – Ap. 77, ll. 20. Bright pulled up and spoke to Samuels. He had a girl with him. Chris was on the other side of the road. Then Bright and Chris started talking for a brief time. Samuels could not hear what they were saying, but seemed like an ordinary conversation. Then he saw Bright pull a gun and shoot. Bright reached over the girl and shot through the passenger window. Then Chris fell and Bright took off. App. 86, ll. 13 – App. 95, ll. 25.

Eureka Zimmerman was standing on the corner about two houses away from the incident. App. 194, ll. – App. 197, ll. 14. She saw Chris standing in the middle of the road and saw Bright drive up and stop. Chris walked to the car and leaned down talking to someone through the passenger window. She then heard a shot and Chris fell back. She did not hear any arguing. App. 201, ll. 13 – App. 211, ll. 19.

On cross examination, she admitted that she wrote in her statement that she did not know who was in the car when Chris was shot. Her statement read that Chris and the person were talking, but the conversation must have got out of hand because she heard the shot and saw Chris

fall. Eureka testified that the police told her not to put a name in her statement as to who did the shooting. App. 213, ll. 14 – App. 218, ll. 9.

During the jury charge conference, the judge asked trial counsel if she intended on requesting a lesser included offense.

**Court:** Does the defense intend on requesting a lesser included offense?  
And if so, I will be glad to hear from you.

**Defense:** No, Your Honor.

**Court:** All right. And just for the record, even though you have not requested a lesser included offense, I personally have considered a lesser included offense, and I do not find it applicable to the facts of this case.

App. 460, ll. 15 – 24.

At his PCR hearing, Bright testified that trial counsel was ineffective for not requesting a jury charge on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. He stated that Victoria Knight testified that there was an argument “in the heat of passion” just before the shot. Bright explained that the trial court asked counsel if she wanted a lesser included offense of manslaughter and she said no. Counsel never discussed with Bright a lesser included offense. Before the trial, she had tried to get him to plead guilty to voluntary manslaughter for a sentence of twenty-five years. Trial counsel’s rejection of the opportunity to ask for the lesser included was prejudicial to Bright because if he had been convicted of voluntary manslaughter, he would have a lesser sentence and not be serving a life sentence. App. 541, ll. 12 – 25; App. 548, ll. 22 – App. 551, ll. 16. Even though the judge said he would not have given a charge on the lesser included offense, trial counsel did not try and made no argument for it. App. 564, ll. 15 – 23.

Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that she recommended to Bright that he plead guilty due to the evidence the state had against him. Bright’s defense was that he did not shoot Chris Dease. App. 565, ll. 10 – 25; App. 567, ll. 17 – App. 568, ll. 23. Trial counsel did not

request a charge on a lesser included offense because Bright did not want one. He directed her to go for all or nothing. She said that every single decision in the trial came from Bright. He rejected a plea to voluntary manslaughter. The PCR attorney argued on cross that this was not a plea but an argument to the court for a lesser included offense. Trial counsel responded that all of the defense team including Bright decided that the lesser included charge was not appropriate under their strategy of the case. PCR attorney asked if it would not be proper to decide during trial when things were not going their way, if they should decide to ask for a lesser included to hedge all of the bets. Trial counsel responded that a lesser included offense was not automatically granted to everyone. She did not think that the lesser included would apply based on what she had presented to the court. App. 575, ll. 8 – App. 580, ll. 6.

Trial counsel testified on cross that there was no evidence of heat of passion in the trial she said that “no one testified to anything that would meet the elements of heat of passion, prior to the shot being fired.” App. 586, ll. 6 – App. 587, ll. 16. her trial strategy was not to ask for a charge on voluntary manslaughter. App. 591, ll. 19 – 25.

The PCR judge ruled that he found trial counsel’s testimony to be very credible, but found Bright’s testimony to not be credible. App. 605. The PCR judge agreed that the lesser included offense was not applicable under the facts of this case. He ruled that this claim of ineffective assistance of counsel was without merit. Trial counsel’s strategy was that Bright did not shoot the victim. This claim was without prejudice to Bright because the trial judge said he would not have charged it anyway. App. 606. The judge found that Bright failed to carry his burden of proving ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 605.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that

the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, *supra*; Butler v. State, *supra*.

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007); Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).

The Supreme Court ruled in State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999), that the law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial, and if any evidence exists to support a charge, it should be given, and the trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence.

Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of another without malice, express or implied. S.C. Code Section 16-3-50.

Trial counsel was ineffective for not requesting a jury charge on voluntary manslaughter as Victoria Knight’s testimony indicated there was argument ignited by the remark of the victim. The victim’s remark that Bright had “balls to be on this street” could be interpreted to be a threatening remark-especially considering the history of Bright being shot by the victim’s family. Even though

the trial judge said he would not have given the charge on the lesser included, trial counsel had the opportunity to change the judge's mind with an argument for it.