STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUN 15 2015

APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001846

Kenwood Bright, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA L. THOMAS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100777

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the post-conviction relief judge properly determine trial counsel was not ineffective in declining to request a jury instruction on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter where trial counsel testified such an instruction was incompatible with her trial strategy and where such an instruction would not have been proper under the facts of this case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the purposes of this return, Respondent adopts Petitioner's statement of the case.

ARGUMENT

I. Probative evidence supports the post-conviction relief judge's finding trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to request a charge on voluntary manslaughter.

Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief judge erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective in not requesting a charge on voluntary manslaughter because the co-defendant's testimony "indicated there was an argument ignited by the remark of the victim." (Pet. for Writ of Cert. p. 8). However, the record clearly indicates Applicant's defense strategy was to deny shooting the victim. Because a charge on the lesser-included offense was incompatible with this strategy, trial counsel had no reason to request such a charge. Furthermore, the evidence at trial did not support a voluntary manslaughter charge, and Petitioner would not have been entitled to one even if trial counsel made such a request. Accordingly, Respondent submits the post-conviction relief judge properly found trial counsel was not ineffective in this regard.

A. Standard of Review

In this post-conviction relief action, Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in the application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of trial counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove trial counsel's "conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984)).

The proper measure of performance is whether trial counsel provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Id. (citing Strickland,

466 U.S. at 687; Turner v. Bass, 753 F.2d 342 (4th Cir. 1985); Marzullo v. Maryland, 561 F.2d 540 (4th Cir. 1977)). The Court strongly presumes trial counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

The Court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Id. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. First, Petitioner must prove trial counsel's performance was deficient. Id. Under this prong, the Court measures trial counsel's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, trial counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

On appeal, this Court must affirm the post-conviction relief judge's denial of relief when there is probative evidence to support his findings. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1997) (citing McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995); Cherry, 300 S.C. at 115, 386 S.E.2d at 624)).

B. Trial counsel articulated a valid strategic reason for not requesting a voluntary manslaughter charge.

Respondent submits the post-conviction relief judge properly found that "trial counsel articulated a valid trial strategy for not seeking a voluntary manslaughter charge." (App. p. 606). "Courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct

will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992) (citing Goodson v. United States, 564 F.2d 1071 (4th Cir. 1977)). Furthermore, the decision to request instructions on lesser-included offenses is a type of strategic decision that is “beyond the realm of serious consideration on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.” Abney v. State, 408 S.C. 41, 47, 757 S.E.2d 544, 547 (Ct. App. 2014), cert. denied (Jan. 15, 2015) (quoting Havard v. State, 928 So.2d 771 (Miss. 2006)).

Here, trial counsel testified she had lengthy pre-trial discussions with Petitioner regarding the issues in his case. (App. p. 582, lines 3-18). Based on these discussions, she developed a defense strategy of denying Petitioner was the person who shot the victim. (App. p. 586, lines 1-10). Trial counsel further testified she consulted with Petitioner about whether the jury should be presented with the alternative of a voluntary manslaughter instruction. (App. p. 575, lines 10-21). Based on the defense theory and her discussions with Petitioner, trial counsel made a strategic decision not to request a voluntary manslaughter instruction. (App. p. 576, line 24-p. 577, line 5; p. 591, lines 19-22). Trial counsel further articulated that she did not believe there was any evidence to support the charge even if she asked for it. (App. p. 579, line 21-p. 580, line 6; p. 586, lines 23-587, line 7; p. 592, lines 5-9).

Trial counsel’s testimony¹ clearly demonstrates her trial strategy was to show Petitioner did not shoot the victim. Because Petitioner denied involvement in the shooting, trial counsel had no reason to pursue a strategy of attempting to mitigate the crime to a lesser-included offense. See McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 560, 455 S.E.2d

¹ Respondent notes the post-conviction relief judge found trial counsel’s testimony more credible than Petitioner’s. (App. p. 605). See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993) (this Court gives great deference to a post-conviction judge’s credibility findings).

686, 688 (1995) (“[C]ounsel had no reason to pursue an entrapment defense because petitioner denied any involvement in the drug incident[.]”) Accordingly, trial counsel’s strategic decision to pursue a defense of denying involvement was reasonable. Furthermore, trial counsel testified she did not believe any evidence in the record supported a theory of voluntary manslaughter.² Thus, trial counsel was not ineffective for asking the jury to find Petitioner was not involved in the shooting rather than to find Petitioner shot the victim under mitigating circumstances. See State v. Walker, 605 S.E.2d 647, 654 (N.C. Ct. App. 2004), overruled on other grounds, 695 S.E.2d 750 (N.C. 2006) (“The record indicates defendants’ counsel were employing an ‘all or nothing’ strategy[.] ... The fact that it failed does not mean that defendants were deprived of effective assistance of counsel.”). In light of her stated trial strategy, based on her thorough investigation, trial counsel articulated a valid reason for not seeking a voluntary manslaughter charge. Abney, 408 S.C. at 46-47, 757 S.E.2d at 547 (declining instruction on lesser-included offense may be reasonable trial strategy). Accordingly, the post-conviction relief judge properly found trial counsel’s performance was not deficient in this regard.

C. Petitioner was not entitled to a voluntary manslaughter charge.

Regardless of the above analysis, Respondent further submits the post-conviction relief judge properly found Petitioner failed to show prejudice from trial counsel’s decision not to request an instruction on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. (App. p. 606). Initially, Respondent notes the trial judge indicated he considered charging the lesser-included offense, but did not find it applicable to the facts

² As will be discussed in Part C, infra, trial counsel properly determined the record contains no evidence to support a charge on voluntary manslaughter.

of the case. (App. p. 460, lines 19-23). Thus, Petitioner cannot show “the result of the proceeding would have been different[,]” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625, because the trial judge would not have given the instruction even if trial counsel had chosen to ask for it.

Furthermore, the evidence at trial did not support a charge on voluntary manslaughter. “Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation.” State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 596, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (citing State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 672 S.E.2d 786 (2009)). To be entitled to a charge on voluntary manslaughter, “both heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation must be present at the time of the killing.” Id. (citations omitted). However, “mere words, no matter how opprobrious, are insufficient to constitute adequate legal provocation when death is caused by the use of a deadly weapon.” State v. Rogers, 320 S.C. 520, 525, 466 S.E.2d 360, 362 (1996).

Here, the State only presented two eyewitnesses to the shooting. Jacobie Samuels testified he saw Petitioner and the victim talking for about five seconds before the shooting. (App. p. 91, lines 8-10). Petitioner was in a car, and the victim was standing on the side of the road. (App. p. 91, lines 11-21). Samuels testified he did not perceive anything out of the ordinary about the conversation between Petitioner and the victim. (App. p. 92, lines 1-13). Victoria Knight testified the tone of the conversation between Petitioner and the victim was not so friendly. (App. p. 248, line 24-p. 249, line 2). She testified Petitioner and the victim were arguing back and forth while the victim stood outside the car. (App. p. 250, lines 3-13).

The only evidence at Petitioner’s trial regarding his interaction with the victim indicates, in the light most favorable to Petitioner, that he was in a verbal argument

immediately prior to the shooting. This is not sufficient to demonstrate adequate legal provocation from the victim. Rogers, 320 S.C. at 525, 466 S.E.2d at 362. Furthermore, there is no evidence of Applicant's mental state to show that he was "overcome by a sudden heat of passion as would produce 'uncontrollable impulse to do violence.'" State v. Walker, 324 S.C. 257, 260, 478 S.E.2d 280, 281 (1996). Therefore, trial counsel and the trial judge properly determined Petitioner was not entitled to an instruction on voluntary manslaughter. Because the trial judge would have properly refused to issue such an instruction, the post-conviction relief judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to demonstrate prejudice from trial counsel's decision in this regard.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.